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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good afternoon

          3  everyone, and welcome to this hearing of the

          4  Committee on Fire and Criminal Justice Services.

          5                 I want to thank everyone for your

          6  patience. We're still awaiting a number of our

          7  Members who are probably in route or just about

          8  here.  But I wanted to get started in light of the

          9  time.

         10                 Today we'll be voting on Intro.

         11  310-A, as well as two other resolutions, Resolution

         12  363-A and Resolution 283. Each year about 80,000

         13  people go through the City's jail system and return

         14  to our communities.  These people have a host of

         15  social problems.  Thirty-two percent read below a

         16  fifth grade level, 20% require some form of

         17  detoxification and 30% lack housing.  These problems

         18  must be dealt with while in jail and when leaving

         19  jail.

         20                 Historically they have not and as a

         21  result 63% of the inmates are re-arrested within

         22  three years of their release. Intro 310-A will

         23  codify into law some of the Department of

         24  Corrections current discharge planning efforts and

         25  they're really to be applauded for the way that they
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          2  have, what I really consider, evolved our jail

          3  system in the 21st century and we'll talk more about

          4  their efforts during these hearings.  Correction and

          5  the Department of Homeless Services compare records

          6  to identify those individuals who cycle between jail

          7  and the shelter system.

          8                 What I'm relaying to you right now is

          9  essentially what the bill Intro. 310-A will codify

         10  and what it will require. It will also require an

         11  assessment of the housing, sobriety and employment

         12  needs of any inmate who will serve ten days or more

         13  in jail.  It requires that this information, with

         14  the inmates' consent, be shared with social service

         15  organizations and that application for government

         16  benefits be made available to all inmates.  That

         17  Correction must insist inmates serving 30 days or

         18  more with preparing these applications as well as

         19  applications for identification and, finally, that

         20  the department must submit an annual report to the

         21  Council and the Mayor on its discharge planning

         22  efforts and report on its effect, if any, on

         23  recidivism starting the year 2008.

         24                 Resolution 263- A calls upon the New

         25  York State Office of Temporary and Disability
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          2  Assistance and the New York City Department of

          3  Social Services to return incarcerated individuals

          4  to Medicaid rolls immediately upon release from

          5  custody as is required under federal law.

          6                 Federal law requires states to

          7  provide Medicaid to anyone eligible until they are

          8  found ineligible.  But the State Department of

          9  Health is just not doing this.  Contrary to the

         10  direction of U.S. Secretary of Health and Human

         11  Services, when people go to jail in New York, the

         12  State cuts off their Medicaid. And then the people

         13  have to wait up til 45 days to get it reinstated

         14  upon release.  We find this abhorrent.  These people

         15  with serious and contagious illnesses, including

         16  HIV, tuberculosis and diabetes- you name it- would

         17  be subject to waiting 45 days before they can even

         18  make sure that their Medicaid benefits are

         19  reactivated.

         20                 The reason that the State gives for

         21  doing this is that their computer system won't allow

         22  them to essentially add another column of

         23  information so they can suspend rather than

         24  terminate Medicaid benefits.  I mean, we're in the

         25  age of technology now, this is really a very poor
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          2  excuse for not following the mandate of the federal

          3  government.  I don't understand how the State can

          4  wilfully violate federal law and get away with it.

          5  Resolution 263- A expresses the Council's outrage.

          6                 Finally, Resolution 283 calls upon

          7  the New York State Legislature to ensure that people

          8  with convictions are not barred from certain types

          9  of jobs if there is no threat to public safety.  I

         10  think one of the most ludicrous things that I've

         11  heard in my days as a Council Member and even just

         12  as a citizen is that we can have inmates trained to

         13  become barbers in prison or in jail, yet when they

         14  come out they're ineligible for a license to do

         15  barbering.  We need to really take a look at why

         16  this remains the case and what we can do to really

         17  prepare those who are coming back to our communities

         18  who may have skills that are viable in the work

         19  place to help facilitate the use of those skills.

         20                 And then, I'd just like to thank,

         21  quite frankly, Commissioner Horn and his staff for

         22  the great work that they're doing on discharge

         23  planning.  Prior to the Council's push on this issue

         24  and, I guess Commissioner Horn's tenure, there had

         25  been an outcry in several communities in the City of
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          2  New York, particularly those communities where

          3  individuals where sort of dropped- off once their

          4  term or their debt to society was paid in our jail

          5  system. Many of these individuals were just dropped-

          6  off with the metro card not necessary in communities

          7  where they lived and had no prospects for real

          8  connections back to community.

          9                 The work that has begun under the

         10  tenure of Commissioner Horn is really miraculous.

         11  There is no other terminology for that.  We have

         12  really propelled our City's jail system, I believe,

         13  into the 21st century by offering discharge planning

         14  to the inmate population there and you will hear

         15  more about that.  He has really been a catalyst for

         16  reform.  We drafted Intro 310- A together and it

         17  represents a combined effort of the Council and the

         18  Department.

         19                 This law will be the first time that

         20  any requirements relating to discharge planning have

         21  appeared in the Administrative Code.  I just want to

         22  give special thanks to Mr. Judy La Peugh (phonetic),

         23  Chief of Staff, Ms. Kathy Coughlin of the Department

         24  of Correction and Ms. Devin O'Hearn (phonetic) of

         25  the Mayor's Office of Legislative Affairs, as well
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          2  as my Counsel Mr. Russell Unger and my Legislative

          3  Director Mr. Mike Ushnall (phonetic).

          4                 I'd like to acknowledge that we have

          5  been joined by two of our colleagues on the

          6  Committee, Council Member Tony Avella of Queens, and

          7  Council Member David Yassky of Brooklyn.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  Chair Clarke,

          9  thank you.  I just want to advise you, I also sit on

         10  the Committee in the room next door. I have some

         11  questions to ask there that I'm going to be over

         12  there, but I will certainly come back here for the

         13  vote and I hope before that.  Thank you.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Madam Chair

         15  you know I'm always on time.  I was actually late

         16  cause I was at another Committee Meeting Housing and

         17  Buildings so I apologize.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Council Member

         19  Avella you are a faithful one.  And I'll leave it

         20  there.

         21                 Let me call at this time Ms. Kathy

         22  Coughlin of the Department of Correction to give

         23  testimony joined by Judith LaPeugh (phonetic).

         24                 MS. COUGHLIN:  Good afternoon

         25  Chairwoman Clarke and Member of the Committee.  I'm
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          2  Kathleen Coughlin, Assistant Commissioner for

          3  Discharge Planning Services with the Department of

          4  Correction.  I'm here today to testify in support of

          5  Intro 310- A which would codify certain key elements

          6  of the City's discharge planning effort.

          7                 First, I'd like to thank the

          8  Committee and the Council for your continued support

          9  of discharge planning.  As you know, this has been a

         10  very important initiative of the Department together

         11  with the Department of Homeless Services and other

         12  City agencies and our community partners.  We were

         13  proud to show you some of what has been accomplished

         14  during the Council's tour last week.  I was sorry I

         15  couldn't be there but I heard you had a good tour.

         16  We are very much appreciative of the endorsement of

         17  our efforts and the commitment to their continuation

         18  that this bill represents.

         19                 This bill also represents an

         20  effective collaboration between the administration

         21  and the Council.  After several months, we have

         22  arrived at a bill that meets the Council's interests

         23  in insuring that discharge planning efforts continue

         24  while recognizing that this initiative is still a

         25  work in progress.  For all we have accomplished thus
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          2  far, we are still in the developing stages.  We are

          3  figuring out what works and may yet find better ways

          4  of doing things.  We look forward to continuing our

          5  collaboration as we move forward and thank you for

          6  your continued support.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

          8  much.  I'd like to also just state that there are a

          9  number of advocacy groups that helped to shape this

         10  process with the Council as well and acknowledge all

         11  of their hard work and support for these efforts.

         12                 Let me just say that the tour to

         13  Rikers Island was extraordinary and I would

         14  encourage anyone who has an interest in this area to

         15  take a look at what is, I'm sure, a transforming

         16  process for everyone.  What I saw were stakeholders

         17  from the Department of Correction in collaboration

         18  with community advocacy groups and inmates working

         19  together to address their concerns. This is a

         20  voluntary program.  It's not something that is

         21  necessarily mandated for all of the inmates.  But

         22  every opportunity is used to stress the importance

         23  of discharge planning.  You see it in the hallways

         24  as you walk, you see it in the cafeteria as inmates

         25  pass by, you feel it in the energy of the personnel
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          2  working with the inmate population and that in

          3  itself was just totally transforming.

          4                 I had visited Rikers Island prior to

          5  this initiative moving to this level and just the

          6  difference in the climate is remarkable.  It's

          7  extraordinary and, I don't know, we may be a model

          8  for the nation, quite frankly, in this process.  I'm

          9  extremely proud and that's why I think this Intro

         10  was so important because this was a concept that was

         11  embraced by Commissioner Horn. I don't know how many

         12  others out there have that similar type of mindset

         13  or can wrap their brains around the concept of

         14  discharge planning and what a difference it means

         15  for the inmate population and for the communities

         16  that they will return to.  But certainly, he's

         17  innovative and he's visionary in his approach to

         18  this.

         19                 It's our hope that, as future

         20  generations come forward for whatever reasons they

         21  become incarcerated, they will benefit from having

         22  this somewhat institutionalized at Rikers Island and

         23  hopefully throughout our jail system to sort of

         24  curve, turn around to the extent that we can some of

         25  what is called recidivism in our society. I want to,
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          2  again, thank you all and I know this is just the

          3  beginning of a process and it will take some

          4  tweaking here, some tweaking there, a lot of

          5  financial support along the way.  But I think it's

          6  well worth it.

          7                 When you look at the cost of having a

          8  revolving door in our jail system, costs not only in

          9  dollars and cents but to communities and to

         10  neighborhoods, to families and to the inmates

         11  themselves who don't oftentimes have an opportunity

         12  to look at life through various lenses.  We're

         13  really doing real public work.

         14                 Council Member Avella, did you want

         15  to say something?  Let me just quickly ask a

         16  question about Medicaid because that's something

         17  that many of the advocates have brought to us.

         18  We've had this conversation before about what is

         19  happening for those individuals who are eligible for

         20  Medicaid and who have those benefits disrupted.

         21  What is it that the Department of Correction has

         22  focused on in terms of addressing what we found to

         23  be extremely disruptive and probably would be a

         24  challenge with respect to the whole discharge

         25  planning effort.
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          2                 MS. COUGHLIN:  Well, I think you know

          3  Commissioner Horn well enough to know that his

          4  mantra is a collaboration and that he knows that you

          5  get things done by working with other to get them

          6  done.  So the most important thing the Commissioner

          7  has done is to jointly sign a letter with four other

          8  New York City Commissioners, Dr. Chu, Dr. Frieden,

          9  Commissioner Gibbs and Commissioner Egelston that's

         10  from HHC, Department of Health and Mental Health,

         11  Homeless Services and HRA to the State's Health

         12  Commissioner asking that the issue of benefits being

         13  terminated when people are in jail be changed so

         14  that the benefits are suspended and reinstituted on

         15  the day people leave from jail. We're hoping to have

         16  a positive dialogue with those five Commissioners

         17  and New York State to get that done.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Do you know

         19  whether the Commissioners heard any response to

         20  these inquiries yet?

         21                 MS. COUGHLIN:  Not at this moment but

         22  I understand there's a meeting among New York State

         23  officials with this on the agenda coming up very

         24  soon.  I don't think we've had a response.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  We're under the
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          2  understanding that federal law really requires that

          3  these Medicaid benefits be reactivated upon release

          4  of an inmate.  Is that similar or is that the same

          5  of what you understand?

          6                 MS. COUGHLIN:  It's the same issue.

          7  The question is how to get it done and the one thing

          8  that came to our attention is that there is a letter

          9  from a coalition of state Medicaid directors to the

         10  same people in  Washington who are advocating that

         11  these benefits be reinstated saying that for various

         12  audit and other reasons they oppose that immediate

         13  reinstatement.  So, there are some issues.  We

         14  consider them technical rather than philosophical

         15  issues.  The real thing is if everybody is looking

         16  for the same goal to get everybody to the table and

         17  figure out how to do it so that the issue of people-

         18  somebody who is in jail and ready to go into drug

         19  treatment, as an example, we can't say to him wait

         20  45 days while we figure it out because the person

         21  will not be there when we go back to get them.  When

         22  we take them on the bus to drug treatment, they need

         23  to have that benefit available to them.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  When you say

         25  that they're technical differences or issues, is it
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          2  tied to finances in any form or fashion to your

          3  knowledge?

          4                 MS. COUGHLIN:  Not that I'm aware of.

          5    I think it's related to the computer systems and

          6  how these things have been done in the past and this

          7  being a new way to do things and change, you know,

          8  every system has to figure out how to get it done.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  I was just

         10  wondering because it would seem to me, again, being

         11  in the age of technology that there must be a

         12  program that could be installed that makes this

         13  happen. Is it cost prohibitive to purchase this

         14  program?

         15                 MS. COUGHLIN:  We don't know that.

         16  We need to get those answers from the people who run

         17  those systems.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well, our hope

         19  is that we can be of support to you in seeking a

         20  speedy remedy to this because, certainly, as we look

         21  at how successful we are with discharge planning,

         22  having a challenge like that in the process doesn't

         23  help in us being able to realize how well and

         24  effective discharge planning can be when an

         25  individual requires that benefit to be available as
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          2  part of the planning.

          3                 MS. COUGHLIN:  Yes, thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  And can you sort

          5  of- I visited the women's facility on Rikers to look

          6  at their discharge planning program as well.  The

          7  first facility we went to was for sentenced inmates

          8  and the program was very evident and very much a

          9  part of that environment.  I didn't see it as

         10  vibrantly in the women's facility.  Is there any

         11  planning to sort of, I guess, beef it up over there

         12  as well?  Can you give us a sense of what you see

         13  coming down the pipe in terms of the program and any

         14  recommendations you may have for us at this stage.

         15                 MS. COUGHLIN:  Well, I'll just remind

         16  you that in the women's facility, we're working with

         17  the sentenced women who are very small part of the

         18  women in that jail.  The jail that you were in holds

         19  every woman who is incarcerated on Rikers.  So, the

         20  part of the jail, the Ride program part that you

         21  went, that is the discharge planning part.  The

         22  difference in the men's facility is that every man

         23  in that jail is sentenced.  So there is an active

         24  women's program.  The Women's Prison Association is

         25  our primary discharge planner there and they're

                                                            17

          1  FIRE AND CRIMINAL JUSTICE SERVICES

          2  doing wonderful work.

          3                 I think the emerging issue is

          4  something that you've helped us with last year and

          5  it's coming to fruition with adolescents.  The

          6  Council gave some money to the Department of

          7  Correction to work with the Vera Institute on

          8  developing an adolescent discharge planning program

          9  which Vera, I think, will talk to you a little bit

         10  about.  It's well on its way to development and

         11  we're hoping by the next calendar year we're gonna

         12  have a program fully running for 16, 17 and 18 year-

         13  olds.  I can't think of a better investment than

         14  getting those kids who are in jail now not to come

         15  back to jail.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well ladies, I

         17  want to thank you both very much.  Please send my

         18  regards to Commissioner Horn. Do you have any

         19  questions Tony?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Just one.  I

         21  was wondering if you had any comments about

         22  Resolution 283?

         23                 MS. COUGHLIN:  I'm sorry?

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  If you had

         25  any comments about Resolution 283, which is on our
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          2  calendar today.

          3                 MS. COUGHLIN:  No, I'm not- we don't

          4  comment on the Resolutions.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Okay.  They

          6  have no comment whatsoever?  Basically the

          7  Resolution says that, calling upon the New York

          8  State Legislature to insure that people with

          9  convictions are not automatically barred from a

         10  wide- range of jobs which they may be qualified and

         11  for which would not endanger the public.  Is this a

         12  particular problem that the agency sees that needs

         13  to be addressed without commenting on the actual

         14  resolution.

         15                 MS. COUGHLIN:  Yeah, I'm not familiar

         16  with the specifics.  I'll just tell you generally

         17  that there is nothing that's going to help more with

         18  keeping people out of jail than jobs.  There's

         19  nothing that's going to help more with people

         20  keeping away from drugs than jobs.  So, to the

         21  degree that that answers your question we get it

         22  that people need work and they need to be trained

         23  for that work.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thanks again.

         25                 I'd like to call on a number of our
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          2  advocacy groups to come and give their testimony at

          3  this time.  Marta Nelson, of the Vera Institute.

          4  Tim Williams for the Center of Employment

          5  Opportunities and Isabel McDevitt of the Doe Fund.

          6                 Before you begin your testimony, just

          7  state your name and affiliation for the record.

          8                 MS. NELSON:  Sure.  Hi, I'm Marta

          9  Nelson from the Vera Institute and then I'll start.

         10                 MS. MCDEVITT:  I'm Isabel McDevitt

         11  from the Doe Fund.

         12                 MR. WILLIAMS:  Tim Williams from the

         13  Center for Employment Opportunities.

         14                 MS. NELSON:  We're the technically

         15  challenged group here.

         16                 Good morning, or rather Good

         17  Afternoon here on November 22nd.  I'm Marta Nelson.

         18  I'm the Project Director at the Vera Institute and

         19  we've been working with the Department of Correction

         20  and with the Center for Employment Opportunity over

         21  the last year on the discharge planning efforts that

         22  have been going on.  I want to voice my enthusiasm

         23  for the bill that will, I believe, help keep what

         24  the Department has been doing on its own going

         25  forward into the future and will effect, really,
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          2  thousands of people coming out of jail in the years

          3  to come.  I think it's a wonderful Resolution- I

          4  mean, Bill.

          5

          6                 I would also like to take this

          7  opportunity to update you on the work that Assistant

          8  Commissioner Coughlin referenced with the

          9  adolescents leaving Riker's Island.  Last May, when

         10  the Commissioner Horn was testifying, there was a

         11  question raised about what the Department was doing

         12  with adolescents and the Commissioner responded

         13  that, in order to do planning for this group you

         14  have to really know more about them because it's a

         15  mistake to assume that what a 16 year- old needs is

         16  the same thing that a 25 year- old or 40 year- old

         17  needs.  And so they were interested in studying this

         18  population.

         19                 The Vera Institute has been working

         20  with the Department, with the funding of the City

         21  Council for which we are very grateful, to study

         22  this population coming out and we're about half- way

         23  through that study at this point.  We've done a

         24  survey of about 100 people who are inside to ask

         25  them a number of different questions about who they
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          2  are and what their needs are.  We're in the middle

          3  of following a group of people as they get out and

          4  asking them questions about their experiences in the

          5  community.

          6                 At this point I can report a little

          7  bit about some of the needs that we learned from

          8  this population from this survey of the 100.  We've

          9  learned that while most of the young people still

         10  live with, at least, one parent that homelessness is

         11  not unknown to people even at this age.  Some are

         12  not able or willing, in some cases, to live with

         13  their parents or their parents are not willing to

         14  take them in.  We also know that this group uses

         15  substances, primarily marijuana, at a very high

         16  rate.  Two- thirds of them use close to once a day

         17  and 49%, nearly half, use everyday. This is also a

         18  group that tends not to go to school in the

         19  community before arrest.  46% hadn't been in school

         20  at all in the year before they were arrested, while

         21  67% hadn't been in school at least four months

         22  before arrest.

         23                 So these are some of the challenges

         24  that they're facing but we've also learned from our

         25  detailed conversation with them that they are very
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          2  interested in doing better this time out. They want

          3  to work, they understand the value of an education

          4  and they still have a lot of hope for their future.

          5  So, as we finish this study we'll present our

          6  findings to you in a detail report in the spring, we

          7  are now turning to helping DOC think about ways to

          8  build services that take advantage this moment of

          9  hope that they have and at a point when we think

         10  they're most motivated to change which is right

         11  before release and then in the community following

         12  release.  So we will continue to update you as this

         13  work proceeds. Thanks.

         14                 MS. MCDEVITT:  Good afternoon.  My

         15  name is Isabel McDevitt and I'm with the Doe Fund

         16  and I want to thank you so much for this opportunity

         17  to testify in support of increased discharge

         18  planning services, improved communication around

         19  housing, employment and sobriety needs of those

         20  cycling between the shelter system and City

         21  corrections institution.  And finally, the

         22  suspension rather than termination of government

         23  benefits for those incarcerated.

         24                 In order to reduce recidivism to

         25  correctional institutions, it is essential that we
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          2  effectively utilize discharge planning resources at

          3  times of release from jail to not only identify the

          4  needs of each individual but to streamline his or

          5  her ability to access the services they need within

          6  the community. Community resources exist that will

          7  successfully break the cycles of shelter and

          8  incarceration but without creating a mechanism for

          9  identifying those who need them or by denying

         10  immediate access to such services, and without

         11  matching the individual's need with the provider who

         12  offers the appropriate service, we are not only

         13  making inefficient use of our City's resources, we

         14  are failing to provide the path out of the cycle of

         15  dependence.

         16                 New York City has a wealth of

         17  community- based services that in partnership with

         18  City agencies, the City Council and the private

         19  sector, we can address the needs of those cycling

         20  between incarceration and homelessness.  For

         21  example, since 1990, the Doe Fund's Ready, Willing

         22  and Able program has offered paid work, shelter,

         23  sobriety and services for homeless individuals ready

         24  to change their lives.  Homeless men who participate

         25  in Ready, Willing and Able often have little to no
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          2  work experience, an average of 19 years of substance

          3  abuse, an average of 5 convictions -- 2 of which

          4  felonies, less than an 8th grade education, and

          5  massive amounts of debt.  To combat these barriers,

          6  Ready, Willing and Able has adopted a core

          7  philosophy that work works to break the cycles of

          8  homelessness, drug addiction, incarceration, chronic

          9  welfare dependency and poverty.  From day one,

         10  trainees in our residential program are given the

         11  opportunity to change their lives through working in

         12  a Doe Fund venture such as the Community Improvement

         13  Project that provides sanitation services in the

         14  streets of New York City.

         15                 Increasingly, ex- offenders who will

         16  be homeless upon discharge seek the transitional

         17  housing and employment services of Ready, Willing

         18  and Able.  Over 75% of the homeless men in Ready,

         19  Willing and Able are ex- offenders and the majority

         20  of those with a criminal background come to Ready,

         21  Willing and Able within the first year of their

         22  release from prison or jail.  In order to combat the

         23  often negative forces that can impede the progress

         24  of an individual re- entering from incarceration

         25  without a discharge plan, we support the creation of
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          2  a coordinated discharge planning process that both

          3  assists an individual during incarceration but

          4  ensures that he or she has access to adequate

          5  services immediately upon release.

          6                 After graduating 1,700 individuals

          7  into full- time employment, independent housing and

          8  drug and alcohol- free lifestyles outside of both

          9  the criminal justice and shelter system, we at the

         10  Doe Fund have come to realize it is the package of

         11  transitional housing and employment that we offer

         12  that allows people to leave drugs, crime and

         13  homelessness behind forever.  It is not one single

         14  ingredient.

         15                 I also just want to quickly mention

         16  that the Doe Fund is involved with the re- entry

         17  roundtable which is a group of providers, over 20

         18  providers addressing the needs of housing for those

         19  re- entering from incarceration and we've been doing

         20  a lot of work about advocating for more housing with

         21  additional services attached to that housing to

         22  break the cycles of recidivism and the re- entry

         23  roundtable is also very supportive of the work of

         24  the Department of Corrections, the Department of

         25  Homeless Services and the City Council. Thank you.
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          2                 MR. WILLIAMS:  Good afternoon.  My

          3  name is Tim Williams.  I'm the Director of

          4  Transitional Employment Services at the Center for

          5  Employment Opportunities or CEO.

          6                 In the summer of 2003, CEO began a

          7  unique partnership with the Criminal Justice

          8  Coordinator, the Department of Corrections, the

          9  Department of Small Business Services and the

         10  Economic Development Corporation to support an

         11  Employment Re- entry Initiative.  CEO provides

         12  immediate paid transitional employment and job

         13  development services for people leaving prisons and

         14  jails and those on community supervision.  CEO has

         15  applied this model at Rikers Island but added a key

         16  dimension never attempted before. We transport

         17  people on the day of their discharge from jail

         18  directly to work where they begin to earn wages and

         19  build work skills.  Participants are paid the

         20  federal minimum wage and are paid daily.

         21                 All participants who complete five

         22  consecutive days of transitional employment receive

         23  intensive job coaching and job development services

         24  eventually leading to full- time unsubsidized

         25  employment.  When fully operational, CEO will
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          2  provide this service to 5,000 City sentenced inmates

          3  a year.  To date, CEO has transported nearly 3,000

          4  inmates from Rikers Island to a transitional work-

          5  site.  Because we recognize that employment is one

          6  of the many challenges facing inmates as they leave

          7  jail, we work closely with the Osborne Association,

          8  Samaritan Village, the Fortune Society and the

          9  Women's Prison Association to address other needs

         10  such as substance abuse treatment, education and

         11  housing.

         12                 This multi- agency response to the

         13  re- entry needs of such a large population is an

         14  ambitious undertaking and I'd like to commend the

         15  Committee for introducing a local law to ensure the

         16  continuation of the City's discharge planning

         17  efforts, and for proposing two resolutions aimed at

         18  addressing the need for benefits, treatment and

         19  employment for people returning to the community

         20  from our City's jails.  As an employment provider,

         21  I'm happy to see that the National Hire Network has

         22  provided testimony in support of the employment

         23  resolution as they are preeminent legal experts in

         24  this area.

         25                 Thank you for the opportunity to tell
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          2  you about CEO and our Rikers Island Employment Re-

          3  entry Initiative.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you all as

          5  well.  Let me just ask a couple of questions.  In

          6  your experience, have you seen sort of this type of

          7  nexus of networking around community re- entry of

          8  inmates in your work practice before and how would

          9  you compare the efforts that are taking place now to

         10  the efforts that you may have seen before.  Are

         11  there any differences?

         12                 MS. NELSON:  Well, I've worked in the

         13  re- entry area now for about five years at Vera and

         14  have done some work with New York State on this

         15  issue and, while I'm very proud of the work that I

         16  did with them, I must say, I had never seen this

         17  level of multi agency involvement and enthusiasm

         18  from Commissioners in several agencies working with

         19  Legislative body.  It's really very extraordinary

         20  and I think it's allowed things to move at a much

         21  faster pace than things usually work in government.

         22  So, I've been thrilled at what I've seen over the

         23  last 15 months.  I think it's unique.

         24                 MS. MCDEVITT:  I would agree with

         25  Marta's characterization.  I think, as a service
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          2  provider, it's been incredibly refreshing and has

          3  been an incredible experience to be involved with

          4  the Department of Homeless Services and the

          5  Department of Corrections in their retreat to really

          6  not only just talk about how this issue is very

          7  important but to really get into the details and

          8  really see the overlap between the two agencies and

          9  other areas as well because it makes sense for the

         10  City to look at this problem not just as sub-

         11  populations but we're talking about a lot of overlap

         12  between agencies.  I think the spirit of cooperation

         13  has been really incredible and it's very

         14  commendable.

         15                 MR. WILLIAMS:  Just to add to that,

         16  I've worked in correctional setting for the last

         17  several years.  First off, I've never seen a project

         18  of this magnitude attempted in any system and the

         19  impact that such a project has on the Department of

         20  Corrections and other systems that it interacts

         21  with.  We have agencies working together, non-

         22  profit agencies working together.  We've also

         23  involved other government partners.  The Department

         24  of Health is involved, the Social Security

         25  Administration is involved.  Vera's been
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          2  instrumental in helping to establish those

          3  relationships and institutionalizing some processes

          4  that I do not think would happen if it wasn't for

          5  the support of the Commissioner and the City

          6  Council.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well, I want to

          8  thank all of you for the work that you've been doing

          9  in the field for quite some time.  I'm just happy to

         10  see that we're able to facilitate you doing your

         11  best.  We rely on all of you to make that difference

         12  for a number of the folks who will be returning to

         13  our communities, who are from our communities and

         14  I'm glad that we've gotten to this point of the

         15  meeting of the minds where everyone can do their

         16  best to make a difference in these folks' lives and

         17  our communities. Thank you.

         18                 MS. NELSON:  Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Okay, we'll have

         20  our next panel of testimony from Dr. Joshua Lee of

         21  the- I think it's Dr. Nicholas Freidenberg, Hunter

         22  College.  Roy Kearse of Samaritan Village and Gail

         23  Harris of Samaritan Village.  And please just state

         24  your name and affiliation for the record.

         25                 DR. LEE:  Okay.  Sorry.  I'm Dr. Lee.
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          2    I'm not Dr. Freudenberg who was invited to testify

          3  and could not be here.  He is of Hunter College.

          4  Myself, I'm at Weill Cornell Medical College and

          5  also a prison health service employee.

          6                 MR. KEARSE:  And I'm Roy Kearse.  I'm

          7  Vice President at Samaritan Village as well as the

          8  President of the New York State Association of

          9  Substance Abuse Providers.

         10                 MS. HARRIS:  Gail Harris, Samaritan

         11  Village, Rikers Island,  Discharge Planning Program.

         12                 DR. LEE:  Thank you very much.  I am

         13  testifying on behalf of Dr. Freudenberg and myself

         14  in favor of proposed Resolution No. 263- A which

         15  calls on the New York State Department of Health to

         16  abide by federal law requiring incarcerated

         17  individuals are returned to Medicaid rolls

         18  immediately upon release by suspending, rather than

         19  terminating, the Medicaid benefits of people

         20  incarcerated in City jails.

         21                 This is an important Resolution that

         22  will improve the health of people returning from

         23  jail to New York City communities, potentially

         24  reducing health problems in low- income communities

         25  to which most inmates return and save money for the
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          2  taxpayers of New York City and State.

          3                 Dr. Freudenberg, the author of this

          4  testimony has been at Hunter College, Department of

          5  Public Health and has researched and developed

          6  programs in the New York City jails for the last 15

          7  years.  Again personally, I work in the New York

          8  City jail system as a physician and I'm also a

          9  health researcher at Cornell Medical College here in

         10  New York City.

         11                 Numerous national and local studies

         12  will show you that incarcerated populations have

         13  higher rates of x, y and z- HIV, tuberculosis,

         14  sexually transmitted illnesses, as well as mental

         15  illnesses and chronic conditions such as diabetes,

         16  hypertension and asthma.  I'm sure this Committee is

         17  very familiar with those kind of figures.

         18                 When inmates return to communities

         19  without medical coverage, that is when they are of

         20  the uninsured, worse things happen to them than

         21  would they to have insurance.  You can tell from any

         22  number of studies using national data or even state

         23  and local studies using New York City figures that

         24  show people without insurance are less likely to get

         25  any kind of continuity of care. They're less likely
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          2  to take medical therapies and medications necessary

          3  for chronic conditions and they're more likely to

          4  show up in emergency rooms and hospitals when,

          5  frankly, it's too late and it becomes very expensive

          6  to do anything about these same conditions.

          7                 I'd like to talk briefly about a

          8  study that Dr. Freudenberg and I worked on.  We

          9  looked at data from women leaving Riker's Island.

         10  They were recruited to the study from 97 to 2001 and

         11  followed for one year upon release from Rikers

         12  Island.  We also worked on the study with David

         13  Vlahov of the New York Academy of Medicine.

         14                 Briefly, we found that women at base-

         15  line and a year out had a lot of health problems.

         16  About 23% had been or were pregnant at follow- up,

         17  24% reported depression, 12% recent syphilis

         18  infection and about 4% chronic condition such as

         19  diabetes.  About half or 52% at 12 months out were

         20  covered by Medicaid. Slightly more had other forms

         21  of health insurance coverage.

         22                 We found that a number of beneficial

         23  outcomes were associated with Medicaid coverage.

         24  People who reported Medicaid coverage at 12 months

         25  out had, by and large, been able to find and follow
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          2  with a primary care physician in the year following

          3  jail. They also were less likely to be arrested.

          4  Not included in my statement but another finding is

          5  they were more likely to have successfully obtained

          6  public assistance.

          7                 So we found clustering together

          8  people that were able to maintain or get public

          9  assistance, Medicaid and a primary care provider.

         10  Those people, in turn, were far less likely to

         11  report having been re- arrested or having engaged in

         12  illegal activity in the 12 months following release.

         13

         14                 That does not prove that health

         15  insurance reduces recidivism.  I wish I could come

         16  here and state that.  But it does encourage us to

         17  think that we may find that, if we're able to

         18  increase those that are able to get Medicaid

         19  immediately upon release, that we will have a

         20  positive impact on recidivism.  Thank you.

         21                 MR. KEARSE:  Good afternoon Council

         22  Members.  As noted earlier, my name is Roy Kearse

         23  and I am a Vice President of Samaritan Village.  I

         24  am also the President of the New York State

         25  Association of Substance Abuse Providers.
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          2  Accompanying me is Gail Harris, Director of

          3  Samaritan's Rikers Island Discharge Program.

          4                 We at Samaritan Village have been

          5  providing substance abuse treatment and social

          6  services to the greater New York community for the

          7  past 45 years.  Traditionally, Samaritan has

          8  embraced hard to serve, disenfranchised populations

          9  including homeless, mentally ill and criminal

         10  justice involved substance abusers and has returned

         11  over 10,000 productive drug- free citizens to the

         12  community since 1959.  Samaritan has successfully

         13  worked with transitioning criminal justice clients,

         14  and is a contracted vendor with the New York City

         15  Department of Corrections.

         16                 Our Rikers Island Discharge Planning

         17  Program provides a comprehensive array of pre and

         18  post release services to City sentenced inmates

         19  under the auspices of the New York City Department

         20  of Corrections Rikers Island Discharge Enhancement

         21  program known as RIDE.  RIDE is a collaborative

         22  effort with a number of private organizations

         23  connecting inmates with the resources to sustain

         24  sobriety, employment and housing.  Samaritan has

         25  served over 850 City sentenced inmates since July
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          2  2003.  Pre release services include recruitment,

          3  bio- psycho- social assessment, level of care

          4  determination, service and discharge plans, and

          5  motivational individual and group counseling all

          6  within a dedicated 100 bed housing area.

          7                 Samaritan's continuum of care

          8  includes intensive discharge planning, coordinated

          9  referrals to treatment providers, transitional

         10  housing, and other supportive services through

         11  Samaritan's newly implemented Community Case

         12  Management component. Transportation is provided

         13  upon discharge from Rikers Island to the designated

         14  community- based service provider.  Post release

         15  services include confirmation of arrival, direct

         16  follow- up contact with clients and service

         17  providers, tracking of 30, 60 and 90- day retention

         18  milestones and community case management services

         19  designed to keep the participant engaged and assist

         20  them in overcoming barriers that may prevent

         21  successful community re- entry. I believe these

         22  experiences uniquely qualify us at Samaritan Village

         23  to speak in support of three proposed resolutions

         24  before this Council.

         25                 The first is proposed Resolution No.
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          2  263 which essentially requires our State Department

          3  of Health to act consistently with federal law and

          4  allow incarcerated individuals to be returned to the

          5  Medicaid rolls immediately upon release.  This, of

          6  course, would be accomplished by suspending rather

          7  than terminating their benefits while offenders are

          8  incarcerated in City jails.  We believe this

          9  Resolution is crucial to our collective efforts as

         10  in the absence of such, newly released individuals

         11  will continue to have difficulty accessing vital

         12  services with the immediacy required to assist them

         13  through this most vulnerable period of community re-

         14  entry.  Furthermore, this Resolution would ensure

         15  the continuance of a much needed resource that New

         16  York City providers require in administering re-

         17  integration services to this population.  These

         18  services include addiction, mental and medical

         19  health care needs.

         20                 The second proposed Resolution we are

         21  in support of is Resolution No. 283 which calls upon

         22  our State Legislature to ensure that people with

         23  convictions are not automatically barred from a wide

         24  range of jobs for which they are qualified and for

         25  which they would endanger the public by having.
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          2                 I sit here before this Council today

          3  as a former criminal drug addict with almost twenty-

          4  five years of recovery and working contribution to

          5  the social and economic health of the City. The fact

          6  of the matter is people should not be stigmatized to

          7  the point where they are not allowed equal

          8  opportunity to access employment that would help in

          9  their rehabilitation and for which they are

         10  qualified.

         11                 Finally, we are in total support of

         12  proposed Intro. No. 310- A which would amend the

         13  Administrative Code in relation to discharge

         14  planning.  It is our opinion that proposed 310- A

         15  represents an example of effective partnership at

         16  its best because it recognizes and supports the

         17  successful collaborative efforts of the multi-

         18  agency, multi- provider Discharge Planning Project

         19  led by Commissioners Martin Horn and Linda Gibbs.

         20  Richard Pruss, the President of Samaritan Village

         21  and Gail Harris seated here with me, our Director on

         22  Riker's Island have both had the privilege of

         23  working with this distinguished group, endeavoring

         24  with them to examine and begin to address the

         25  perplexity of issues our incarcerated and homeless
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          2  populations face.

          3                 The ability to identify frequent

          4  users of the City shelters and jails, those most

          5  evidently in need, the systematic collection and

          6  dissemination of information relative to discharge

          7  planning, and making governmental benefits and

          8  personal identification more readily available to

          9  City sentenced inmates receiving discharge planning

         10  services are significant steps towards improving re-

         11  entry outcomes for City sentenced offenders.  When

         12  helping organizations work together to provide a

         13  seamless flow of services to those in need, the

         14  outcomes are incredible.  Moreover, proposal 310- A

         15  will institutionalize best practice and should,

         16  without a doubt, become law.

         17                 In closing, I would like to say that

         18  having lived in New York City for close to half a

         19  century, I personally believe that effective

         20  government is marked by bold, wise and decisive

         21  leadership.  This Council has demonstrated that by

         22  providing funding for discharge services- money well

         23  spent.  Your continued help in addressing these

         24  issues will make New York City a better place for

         25  everyone.
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          2                 Thank you for allowing me this

          3  opportunity to speak to this esteemed body and good

          4  day.  I'll be happy to answer any questions you may

          5  have.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Did you want to

          7  say anything?

          8

          9                 MS. HARRIS:  No actually, unless, you

         10  have any questions for us.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Oh, OK.  I want

         12  to thank you for your testimony.  I wanted to

         13  address my first question to you Doctor.  Have you

         14  witnessed, I guess in your time on Rikers, the

         15  challenge.  What we're really pushing for here is a

         16  change in the State's mentality when it comes to

         17  being able to make sure that once an inmate is

         18  released that their Medicaid is reactivated. Would

         19  you say in your experience that that is a

         20  significant enough obstacle for some inmates that it

         21  leaves a door open for recidivism?  And could you

         22  demonstrate that in some example or something that

         23  you may have witnessed.

         24                 DR. LEE:  Sure.  I would be hard-

         25  pressed to say that I could give you a case of lack
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          2  of Medicaid coverage resulting in recidivism.  I

          3  will say, though, that I can give you many cases of

          4  lack of Medicaid coverage in the short or long term

          5  resulting in worse health outcomes.  Any number of

          6  conditions need immediate follow- up.  You come in,

          7  you kind of get a tune- up, say in your 20 days'

          8  stints at Rikers Island or another facility.  And

          9  then you need to follow through with that and you

         10  can't just walk back into the clinic without proper

         11  coverage or some kind of economic foundation that

         12  lets you make the co- pay, for instance, at HHC.

         13                 So, HIV patients, mentally ill

         14  patients, people whose condition really day- to- day

         15  are going to get worse if they don't take that

         16  medication on a daily basis.  There's hundreds of

         17  those cases of people needing immediate back- up

         18  when they hit the streets again and, not having it

         19  because they never figured out Medicaid before hand

         20  because it was terminated in the course of their

         21  stay- any number of reasons one of which is what

         22  we're addressing today, for not having their

         23  continuous coverage.  But, for sure it should be

         24  there.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  To your
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          2  knowledge, are inmates who are about to be released

          3  aware of the fact that their Medicaid benefits have

          4  been terminated?  Is there anything in the interim

          5  that we can do to help them to bide their time or is

          6  there something that you guys do to help them to

          7  bide their time between the time that they receive

          8  their last medication and the time that the Medicaid

          9  would kick back in?

         10                 DR. LEE: In some instances they will

         11  leave with about a week's worth of medications and,

         12  hopefully, they've been prepped about what it's

         13  gonna take to get the Medicaid back. Historically,

         14  not so much has been done but I will applaud the

         15  efforts of the entire discharge planning- the things

         16  that we talked about today and that I've seen as a

         17  practitioner in the last three years.  When I

         18  started, very little activity in that arena now,

         19  even on Sundays- nights/weekends, you'll see people

         20  there doing the discharge planning process.  Now

         21  that isn't going to solve the problem of having had

         22  your Medicaid terminated.  So, again it's a big

         23  issue that a number of these Resolutions are dealing

         24  with.  But, absolutely we should move it forward.  I

         25  haven't seen instances where we're doing anything
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          2  that is going to bridge that problem until we fix

          3  it, for sure, the problem of termination rather than

          4  suspension.

          5

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Thank you very

          7  much.  I wanted to ask the folks at Samaritan

          8  Village, you deal with both in jail and prison

          9  population- folks who return from prison as well are

         10  serviced by Samaritan?  The only reason I ask is

         11  because some of the challenges for re- entry coming

         12  from the prison population has a lot to do with the

         13  bars on the type of employment that a number of

         14  those folks receive and that's really where that

         15  Resolution is coming from.  Can you give us an

         16  indication of the type of conversations held by

         17  Samaritan with individuals who are facing that bar

         18  and what they feel their challenges are re- entering

         19  into society- not being able to utilize some of the

         20  skills that they may have acquired or maybe even had

         21  prior to being incarcerated but because of their ex-

         22  convict stigma are now not able to practice. Can you

         23  give us a sense of that?

         24                 MR. KEARSE:  Well, we've long known

         25  that treating substance abuse or treating some of
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          2  the other health- care issues that people come out

          3  of prison have is only part of the problem. A major

          4  part of the problem is helping people to feel whole

          5  again and helping them feel that they can make a

          6  contribution to our society.  To do that, they have

          7  to be able to be employed.  They have to be able to

          8  earn incomes so that they could own a home, own an

          9  apartment and take care of their children.  That's

         10  very difficult when you have to face all of these

         11  barriers that prevent you from obtaining employment.

         12                 So, a large part of our program at

         13  Samaritan is geared toward helping people develop

         14  the vocation of skills necessary so that they could

         15  re- enter the job market.  But also, helping them to

         16  develop coping mechanisms so that they can overcome

         17  some of the barriers.  And this is a real difficult

         18  challenge, it's probably one of the major challenges

         19  facing our organization because a lot of the clients

         20  who do come into our system have had rich work

         21  histories that was interrupted by their addiction,

         22  for example, and the subsequent criminal activities

         23  they engaged in in pursuit of income to support

         24  their drug addiction.  I don't know if you want to

         25  add anything to that Gail.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Just finally,

          3  you've all had some experience with the discharge

          4  planning that's taking place on Rikers Island.

          5  We're really at the advent of this process with

          6  Rikers Island under the tenure of Commissioner Horn.

          7    Can you give us a sense of, with your experience,

          8  what this has meant in terms of climate change or

          9  things of that nature within the institution?

         10                 MS. HARRIS:  The culture has shifted

         11  dramatically. I've had the benefit of having been in

         12  DOC for 15 years with 10 years on the DOC side and

         13  I'm still just amazed that we can come to the

         14  receiving room as civilians and pick up these

         15  clients and put them in vans and bring them to the

         16  designated after- care site.

         17                 Commissioner Coughlin, Commissioner

         18  Horn, Warden Sculante (phonetic), all of the vendors

         19  have really, really just done a remarkable job

         20  getting the word out there.  I think if you look at

         21  DOC as an institute altogether, changing the

         22  cultural paradigm is such a necessity, it's such a

         23  shift from where we were even five years ago where

         24  we did some discharge planning but it was basically

         25  all the detainees and really helping to continue to
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          2  educate everybody involved with the process and even

          3  those who are involved peripherally within the

          4  institution as to why this initiative is so

          5  important.

          6                 I can tell you as somebody who's been

          7  around for a long while, it's been a very exciting

          8  year and a half at this point just having watched

          9  all of this occur.  It's really great to work in an

         10  institution where essentially it's value for the

         11  work that my team and I do.  So, on that note I'm

         12  very thankful to definitely the folks in

         13  corrections, certainly the City Council for funding

         14  all that but, I think we need to keep moving in that

         15  direction.

         16                 It would be a great day when inmates

         17  coming into C76 view discharge planning as norm and

         18  the standard and it becomes known as the discharge

         19  planning jail.  People know that this is a stop to

         20  keep you out, not that you'd be expected back in,

         21  you know which mostly have to look forward to is

         22  some officer saying "Hey, you were a great worker,

         23  come back to my work detail again".  We'll be able

         24  to do this for people outside, it happens, it

         25  happens.  It would be nice that people could develop
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          2  a value for self and work and productivity beyond

          3  the confines of DOC.  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Anyone else want

          5  to add any comment?

          6                 DR. LEE:  I would just add as I

          7  alluded to before that, previously from a

          8  clinician's perspective, we had seen a little bit of

          9  effort in terms of mental health and HIV positive

         10  patients with discharge planning in the last five

         11  years, say.  But it's really a different story this

         12  year where really around the clock, again, not much

         13  happens in the jail clinic on Sunday afternoon, but

         14  there's discharge planning there which is a big

         15  difference from years previous and it's applied to

         16  anyone that's eligible not just a select few of

         17  these certain diagnosis and I think it'll be a

         18  tremendous benefit.  Thanks.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Well I want to

         20  thank all of you for your comments and your

         21  testimony here today.  It's helped us a lot and I'm

         22  sure it will help us in the next round of budget

         23  hearings that we have at the City Council.

         24  Certainly, we are hoping that the State of New York

         25  will hear our plea through our Resolution to really
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          2  begin the type of reforms and, just get their acts

          3  together, you know what I mean.  They're kind of

          4  dragging us down and we need to let them know that

          5  we're light years ahead of them at this stage.

          6                 Thank you all very much.

          7                 Members we're gonna call a roll on

          8  the vote now.

          9                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE: Intro.

         10  310-A, Resolution 263-A and Resolution 283. Council

         11  Member Clarke:

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Aye on all.

         13                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Boyland.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  I vote Aye

         15  on both Resolutions and Intro.  Thank you very much

         16  for that.  I vote yes.

         17                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Avella.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Aye on all.

         19                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Yassky.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY:  I vote Aye on

         21  all three matters.  I want to say I'm voting Aye in

         22  honor of the Chair's birthday which was yesterday.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BOYLAND:  Can you turn

         24  16 again, Yvette?  I don't know you could do that.

         25  Oh, okay just checking.
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          2                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  They voted

          3  four in the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

          4  abstentions.  All items are adopted.  Council

          5  Members please sign the Committee Reports. Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  Meeting is now

          8  adjourned.

          9

         10                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Council

         11  Member Gerson.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Aye.

         13                 COUNSEL TO THE COMMITTEE:  Vote is

         14  now five in the affirmative, zero in the negative

         15  and no abstentions.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:  All right.  Now

         17  the hearing is really adjourned.

         18                 (The following written testimony was

         19  read into the record.)

         20

         21  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         22  GLEN MARTIN

         23  DEPUTY DIRECTOR OF NATIONAL H.I.R.E. NETWORK

         24                 Good morning.  I would like to thank

         25  the Members of the Committee on Fire and Criminal
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          2  Justice Services and other City Council Members, and

          3  particularly Chairperson Yvette Clarke, for

          4  affording me the opportunity to testify here today

          5  on this important issue.

          6                 For over 30 years, the Legal Action

          7  Center has fought for the civil rights of people in

          8  recovery from alcohol and drug dependence, people

          9  with HIV/AIDS and individuals with past criminal

         10  records.  The Legal Action Center created the

         11  National H.I.R.E. Network three years ago to promote

         12  the employment of people with criminal records by

         13  serving as a national clearinghouse for information,

         14  promoting collaboration between policymakers,

         15  practitioners and researchers, and by providing

         16  leadership on public policy on issues at the

         17  intersection of workforce development and criminal

         18  justice policy and practice.

         19                 Through my position as Senior Legal

         20  Assistant and in my current role as Deputy Director

         21  of the National H.I.R.E. Network, I have had the

         22  opportunity to witness firsthand the legal and

         23  practical barriers faced by qualified and

         24  rehabilitated people with criminal records who are

         25  seeking to enter the labor market. I would like to
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          2  focus my testimony on Resolution 283, which

          3  addresses the barriers faced by people with criminal

          4  records in obtaining occupational licenses.

          5                 We applaud the City Council's action

          6  to support efforts to increase the labor market

          7  participation of people with criminal records in New

          8  York as one critical component of successful

          9  prisoner re- entry and increased community safety.

         10  The Legal Action Center recently released a report,

         11   "After Prison: Roadblocks to Re- entry, a Report on

         12  State Legal Barriers Facing People with Criminal

         13  Records."  The report accomplishes three goals:  (1)

         14  it documents the legal barriers in all 50 states

         15  regarding employment, housing, public assistance and

         16  food stamps, voting, driver's license privileges,

         17  access to records, and adoptive and foster

         18  parenting; (2) it evaluates states on whether their

         19  laws and policies help or hinder the ability of

         20  people with criminal records to re- enter society

         21  successfully; and (3) it provides a blueprint for

         22  reform, outlining a series of legislative reforms

         23  state and federal governments should enact to ensure

         24  that people with past criminal records are able to

         25  re- integrate successfully.  While New York did the
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          2  best of all 50 states and has demonstrated

          3  leadership in enacting legislation to protect people

          4  with criminal records from discrimination in many

          5  areas, including employment, the State can and

          6  should do more to strengthen existing legislation to

          7  ensure the successful re- entry of people with

          8  criminal records.

          9                 Under Article 23A of New York State

         10  Correction Law, employers and occupational licensing

         11  agencies are prohibited from barring job applicants

         12  based upon criminal convictions unless they are job-

         13  related or the applicant poses a direct threat to

         14  public safety or property.  Employers are required

         15  to consider individuals on a case- by- case basis

         16  and evaluate evidence of rehabilitation. When an

         17  individual is denied employment or licensure based

         18  upon a conviction, he or she is entitled to a

         19  written statement of the reasons for denial.  N.Y.

         20  Correct. Law Section 750- 54.

         21                 Moreover, New York State issues

         22  Certificates of Relief from Good Conduct and

         23  Certificates of Relief from Disabilities to relieve

         24  automatic bars that arise from having a conviction

         25  record.  N.Y. Correct. Law Section 700 and 703- b.
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          2  These certificates are extremely important and

          3  valuable because many occupational licenses in New

          4  York prohibit people with criminal records from

          5  being eligible.  When a person obtains either type

          6  of certificate, the automatic bar is removed and

          7  occupational licensing agency is prohibited from

          8  automatically disqualifying the person.

          9                 However, these certificates have

         10  limited value because they do not address the

         11  practical barrier of an individual having a criminal

         12  record.  Many state licensing agencies require a

         13  showing of "good moral character" for the issuance

         14  of various types of licenses, including to become an

         15  accountant, architect, barber, chiropractor, health

         16  care professional, plumber or electrician, and taxi

         17  driver.  Each of the agencies that issues licenses

         18  determines the definition of "good moral character."

         19    In the absence of specific documentation

         20  demonstrating good moral character, applicants are

         21  routinely denied licenses solely on the basis of

         22  having a criminal record, even when the conviction

         23  occurred many years ago and is unrelated to the

         24  license being sought.

         25                 The National H.I.R.E. Network worked
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          2  closely in its second year with policymakers in

          3  Illinois and Delaware to enact legislation to

          4  address this practical problem.  Like New York,

          5  there are a series of occupations barred to people

          6  with criminal records in Illinois.  Modeled after

          7  New York's legislation, Illinois passed a law

          8  creating a certificate of rehabilitation that an

          9  individual could receive to lift automatic bars.

         10  However, the new law in Illinois went beyond New

         11  York's law by providing people evidence of "good

         12  moral character."  If a person receives a

         13  certificate, he or she cannot be denied a license in

         14  specified fields because of a previous conviction or

         15  by reason of finding a lack of "good moral

         16  character" when that finding is based on a previous

         17  conviction.  The license may be denied, however, if

         18  there is a direct relationship between the previous

         19  conviction and the license being sought or if

         20  issuing the license would involve unreasonable risk

         21  to the property, safety or welfare of others.

         22                 In lifting occupational bars, the law

         23  gives people with criminal records access to

         24  licenses in fields which current legislation

         25  presumes denial of licensure, including those
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          2  related to animal welfare, athletic training,

          3  cosmetology, boxing, interior design, land

          4  surveying, marriage and family therapy, professional

          5  counseling, real estate and roofing.  We are

          6  currently working with policymakers in Ohio,

          7  Oklahoma, and Connecticut on similar legislation.

          8                 The practical barrier of denying

          9  licensure because of the lack of "good moral

         10  character" is perhaps best illustrated through one

         11  of many clients served by the Legal Action Center.

         12  While this individual had many minor misdemeanor

         13  convictions for prostitution on her rap sheet that

         14  resulted directly from years of being addicted,

         15  within the past six years before she came to our

         16  offices, she had managed to stay drug- free and

         17  obtain her GED, a Bachelor's degree from the College

         18  of New Rochelle, CASAT Certification from New York

         19  State, and her Masters degree in Social Work from

         20  N.Y.U. School of Social Work.

         21                 At the agency where she was employed

         22  as a substance abuse counselor, she was poised to

         23  enter a new position that would have increased her

         24  salary considerably.

         25                 However, the new position required
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          2  that she be licensed by the New York State

          3  Department of Education.  Her application was

          4  already in process and she convinced her supervisor

          5  to delay filling the position for a few more weeks

          6  pending a decision by the state licensing bureau.

          7                 The Department denied her application

          8  several times on the grounds that she lacked "good

          9  moral character".  None of the mitigating

         10  circumstances or overwhelming evidence of

         11  rehabilitation, including character references from

         12  faculty at N.Y.U., local clergy, past and present

         13  employers, and certificates of rehabilitation

         14  convinced them otherwise.  Because of the "good

         15  moral character" requirement governing the issuance

         16  of a Social Worker's license, and despite the fact

         17  that she was qualified and rehabilitated, her prior

         18  convictions served as an absolute bar.

         19                 We strongly encourage the New York

         20  State Legislature to address the practical barrier

         21  many people with past criminal records face when

         22  they apply for licenses for which they are trained

         23  and qualified.

         24                 In doing so, we will ensure

         25  successful re entry and also support employers who
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          2  want to hire qualified people but are otherwise

          3  barred from doing so because the job applicant

          4  cannot obtain a license by virtue of having a

          5  conviction history.

          6                 (Meeting adjourned at 2:30 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, INGRID SAEZ, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 22nd day of November 2004.
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